Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons
Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007– )
2015

David and Rosemary Olsen; Dianne and William Newland; Rick
Margolis, Plaintiffs/Appellants vs. Park City Municipal
Corporation, a Municipal Corporation, and Valley of Love, LLC,
Defendants/Appellees : Brief of Appellants
Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OVER THE APPEAL

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code section 78A-4-103(2)U.)
STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW
Issue No.1: In adopting Ordinance No. 10-08 ("Ordinance")_ 1 Park City violated several

provisions of the Park City Land Management Code and/or the Park City General Plan. The
District Court erred in sustaining the Ordinance in light of these violations.
Standard of Review: Questions of whether local land use authority violated a law,

statute, or ordinance in effect at the time the decision was made are reviewed directly with no
deference given to the district court's decision. Fox v. Park City, 2008 UT 85, ,r 11,200 P.3d
182, 185 (citations omitted).
Preservation of Issue No. 1: Issue No. I was presented to the District Court and

preserved for appeal when it was briefed by both parties, argued during the October 27, 2014
hearing on all three parties' Motions for Summary Judgment, and was the basis for the District
Court's Order and Judgment.2
STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND REGULATIONS

UTAH CODE§ 78A-4-103(2)(j). Court of Appeals jurisdiction

***

(2) The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of
interlocutory appeals, over:

***

(j) cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court

1A
2

copy of Park City ordinance 10-08 is attached hereto as Addendum B.

(R. 220-28, 232-44, 247-70; Transcript at pp. 3-12; R. 300-02.)

1

UTAH

CODE §78B-2-11 l. Failure of action--Right to commence new action
(1) If any action is timely filed and the judgment for the plaintiff is reversed, or if
the plaintiff fails in the action or upon a cause of action otherwise than upon the
merits, and the time limited either by law or contract for commencing the action
has expired, the plaintiff, or if he dies and the cause of action survives, his
representatives, may commence a new action within one year after the reversal or
failure.

CODE§ 10-9a-801. No district court review until administrative remedies exhausted--Time
for filing--Tolling of time--Standards governing court review--Record on review--Staying of
decision

UTAH

(1) No person may challenge in district court a municipality's land use decision
made under this chapter, or under a regulation made under authority of this
chapter, until that person has exhausted the person's administrative remedies as
provided in Part 7, Appeal Authority and Variances, if applicable.
(2)(a) Any person adversely affected by a final decision made in the exercise of or
in violation of the provisions of this chapter may file a petition for review of the
decision with the district court within 30 days after the local land use decision is
final.

***
(4) The provisions of Subsection (2)(a) apply from the date on which the
municipality takes final action on a land use application for any adversely affected
third party, if the municipality conformed with the notice provisions of Part 2,
Notice, or for any person who had actual notice of the pending decision.
(5) If the municipality has complied with Section 10-9a-205, a challenge to the
enactment of a land use ordinance or general plan may not be filed with the
district court more than 30 days after the enactment.
Park City Land Management Code § 15-7-1. Enactment of Subdivision General Provisions
In order that land may be subdivided, or Lot lines adjusted in accordance with
these purposes and policy, these Subdivision regulations are hereby adopted.
Park City Land Management Code§ 15-7-2. Purpose of Subdivision General Provisions
The purpose of the Subdivision regulations is:

***
(B) To guide the future growth and Development of Park City, in accordance with
the General Plan.

***
(C) To provide for adequate light, air, and privacy [ ] and to prevent overcrowding
of the land and undue congestion of population.

2

***

(G) To provide the most beneficial relationship between the Uses ofland and
Buildings and the circulation of traffic, throughout the municipality, having
particular regard to the avoidance of congestion in the Streets and highways, and
the pedestrian traffic movements appropriate to the various Uses of land and
Buildings, and to provide for the proper location and width of Streets and
Building lines.
Park City Land Management Code § 15-7-5. Interpretation, Conflict, and Severability

***

(B)(l) These regulations are not intended to interfere with, abrogate, or annul any
other ordinance, rule or regulation, statute, or other provision of law. Where any
provision of these regulations imposes restriction different from those imposed by
any other provision of these regulations or any other ordinance, rule or regulation,
or other provision oflaw, whichever provisions are more restrictive or impose
higher standards shall control.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
Nature of the Case.
This case involves a challenge to the adoption of Park City Ordinance 10-08. The
Ordinance approved the combination of three (3) separate parcels of land into a single lot, which,
because it improperly and illegally allowed a vast increase on the allowable density of a
development on the property, adversely affected neigi11boring and nearby property
owners/Appellants David and Rosemary Olsen and Rick Margolis ("Residents"). (R. 2.) The
Residents opposed the Ordinance since it was first proposed. (R. 2.)
Course of Proceedings.
On March 31, 2010, the Residents filed a complaint challenging the adoption of the
Ordinance (Original Complaint). (R. 2, 54.) The Original Complaint was filed less than thirty
(30) days after the publication and effective date of the Ordinance. (R. 2.) On July 12, 2011, the
Original Complaint was dismissed for failure to timely serve under Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of
Civil Procedure. (R. 55.) That dismissal was not on the merits. (R. 55.)
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Pursuant to Utah Code Section 78B-2-111, Utah's "Savings Statutet the Residents filed
a new Complaint on October 13, 2011 also challenging the adoption of the Ordinance (Re-filed
Complaint). (R. 1-3, 55.) Specifically, the Residents alleged that the Ordinance violated and
was inconsistent with the General Plan and Land Management Code of Park City, and that it was
arbitrary, capricious and/or illegal. (R. 1-3.) The Re-filed Complaint was filed within one year
of the dismissal of the Original Complaint. (R. 55.)
The District Court granted Park City's Motion to Dismiss upon finding that the Original
Complaint was "untimely" under Utah Code Section 10-9a-801 (5), and the Re-filed Complaint
was therefore ban-ed under Utah Code Section 78B-2-111. (R. 56.) The Residents filed a Notice
of Appeal on June 6, 2012 (R. 58-59). The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded. (R. 6 774 ). The case was remitted on January 31, 2014. (R. 75-76.)
Valley of Love, LLC (Valley of Love), the owner of the property was allowed to
intervene as a real party in interest. (R. 77-86.) The Residents moved for summary judgment
arguing that the Ordinance violated Park City's Land Management Code §§ 15-7-2 and 15-7S(B)(l) and provisions of its General Plan. (R. 218-28.) Park City and Valley of Love filed
cross-motion for summary judgment. (R. 229-31, 245-46.) The parties fully briefed the
motions. (R. 271-80, 289-98.)

Disposition Below.
The District Court heard oral argument on all the motions and granted the motions of
Park City and Valley of Love finding that the Ordinance did not violate a law, ordinance, or
statute in effect at the time the Ordinance was enacted. (R. 300-02.)

4

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
The Court's review of a municipality's land use decision is limited to determining
whether it was arbitrary, capricious, or illegal. See Springville Citizens for a Better Cmty. v. City
ofSpringville, 1999 UT 25, ,r 22, 979 P .2d 332, 336; Utah Code Section 10-9a-801. However, a
municipality's discretion is not unfettered and will not be upheld if it is found to violate one of

~

these standards. Id. When the City enacted the Ordinance, it did so in violation of several
explicit and unambiguous provisions of the Park City Land Management Code and/or its General
Plan and is, therefore, illegal.

@

Substantively, the Ordinance was enacted to consolidate three separate parcels of land for
the purpose of significantly increasing the building density than could be built on the individual
parcels. Lot line consolidations enacted for this purpose are in violation of LMC § 15-7-5(8)(1)
which mandates that such consolidations do not interfere with, abrogate, or annul a preexisting
restrictions.
Procedurally, the Ordinance was enacted without the City Council or Planning
Commission ever having analyzed or even signific~"'1tly questioned the potential impacts that
allowing the proposed massively increased development would have on overcrowding of the
land, undue congestion of population, or on traffic circulation and congestion in the streets. Nor
did the City consider alternative developments which could have provided a more beneficial
relationship between the uses of the land and the impact it would have on neighboring parties.
Enacting the Ordinance in such a manner violated § 15-7-2 which mandates that such procedural
steps be taken prior to the enacting of such an ordinance.
Finally, the Ordinance was enacted to allow for the development of a multi-unit housing
project which will be built to the maximum scale allowed in the Residential Commercial zone.

5
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While the lots in question do reside in the Residential Commercial zone, the General Plan
indisputably distinguishes between what can be built along the eastern side of Empire Avenue,
where this property is located, versus what can be built along the western side of Empire.
Specifically, developments to the west of Empire are allowed to reach the maximum scale of the
Residential Commercial zone, while developments on the eastern side are required to transition
in scale to the lower densities in the older parts of the City down the slope. Because the
Ordinance allowed for the maximum scale to be developed on the eastern side of Empire it is in
violation of the General Plan. The Appellants have and will suffer prejudice as a result of the
Ordinance. This prejudice was sufficiently established at the District Com1 level and has never
been challenged.
ARGUMENT
The issue on appeal in this case is whether Park City's adoption of the Ordinance violated
provisions of the Park City Land Management Code (LMC) and/or its General Plan and should
be struck down because it violated a law, statute, or ordinance in effect at the time the decision
was made. No deference should be given to the District Court's ruling. Specifically, the
substance of the Ordinance and the procedure by which it was granted violated LMC §§ 15-7-2
and 15-7-S(B)(l) and were not compliant with the General Plan.

I.

The Ordinance violates a law, statute, or ordinance in effect at the time the decision
was made

It is important to note that the Residents do not argue that a multi-dwelling unit could
never have been lawfully approved by the City Council for the parcels in question. Rather, the
Residents' argument is that the size of and the number of units in the proposed development and
the manner in which it was approved violated several plainly stated and unambiguous provisions
and policies of the LMC and General Plan. As stated above, the Ordinance in question granted a

6

lot line adjustment combining three separate lots into one "lot ofrecord" Under the LMC the
new single lot would be entitled to more use density than the three lots even if the proposed
building had been allowed to build over the existing lot lines.
In Park City, the aggregation, adjustment, and subdivision of parcel boundaries is
governed by Title 15 Chapter 7 of the LMC. When determining whether to grant a lot line
adjustment, "[m]unicipal zoning authorities are bound by the terms and standards of applicable
zoning ordinances and are not at liberty to make land use decisions in derogation thereof....
Stated simply, the City cannot change the rules halfway through the game. The City was not
entitled to disregard its mandatory ordinances." Springville Citizens, 1999 UT 25, ,r 30 (internal
quotation and citations omitted). Furthermore:
In interpreting the meaning of a statute or ordinance, we begin first by looking to
the plain language of the ordinance. When examining the plain language, we must
assume that each term included in the ordinance was used advisedly.
Additionally, "statutory construction presumes that the expression of one should
be interpreted as the exclusion of another."

Carrier v. Salt Lake Cnty., 2004 UT 98, ,r 30, 104 P.3d 1208, 1216 (citing Biddle v. Wash.
Terrace City, 1999 UT 110, ,r 14, 993 P .2d 875). Thus, when the City Council grants a lot line
adjustment, it must do so in accordance with every plainly stated purpose and policy3 of Chapter
7. Consequently, the City Council cannot simply change, ignore, or purposely misinterpret LMC
provisions unfavorable to its position.

A. The Ordinance violates LMC § 15-7-S(B)(l)
The first provision that the Ordinance violates is LMC § I 5-7-5(B)(l) which provides
that:

3

"In order that land may be subdivided, or Lot lines adjusted in accordance with these purposes
and policy, these Subdivision regulations are hereby adopted." LMC § 15-7-1.

7

[T]hese [lot line adjustment] regulations are not intended to interfere with,
abrogate, or annul any other ordinance, rule or regulation, statute, or other
provision of law. Where any provision of these regulations imposes restrictions
different from those imposed by any other provision of these regulations or any
other ordinance, rule or regulation , or other provision of law, whichever
provisions are more restrictive or impose higher standards sha!L control.
(emphasis added). In this case, the intended effect of the Ordinance was to increase the buildable
square footage of the three separated lots from around 9,000 sq. ft. to nearly 13 ,000 sq. ft. on the
aggregated lot. 4

. .

I

Parcel 1

•

I

Parcel 2

Proposed Lot
3 Parcels Combined

Parcel 3

I

PARCEL AREA
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-

=

~--.
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In other words, the Ordinance was enacted. for the sole purpose of abrogating or annulling the
buildable square footage restrictions imposed by a separate ordinance 5 on two of the three
parcels to create a lot with a much higher building density. This is a clear violation of 15-7-

•

4

(R. 145), February 15, 2010 City Council Staff Report Chart .

5

See LMC § 15-2.16-3(C), (E), (G).

8

5(B)(l) as conflicting regulations and restrictions must be settled in favor of the higher
restriction. Essentially, the City Council was well within its power to aggregate the three lots
into one; however, the buildable square footage on the resulting lot could not equal more than the
buildable square footage on the separated lots. The LMC prohibits the synergy that the
Ordinance allowed.
Valley of Love argued to the District Court that this provision should not extend to
setback restrictions because "[i]t defies reason that the language cited above was intended to lock
the density level of all of the lots in Park City at the current level."6 However, as counsel for
Park City openly admitted during oral arguments on the hearing on the multiple motions for
summary judgment, Park City has in fact imposed such density restrictions on developments
receiving lot line adjustments in the past in order to stay compatible with neighboring buildings.
Sometimes, we'll see ordinances that there's [sic] worries about compatibility
with other buildings in the neighborhood. So maybe there's a restriction on the
gross floor area of whatever's built, but the design of the building itself is not you know, that's not part of the subdivision. (R. 314) Transcript at p. 17.
Additionally, applying 5(B) to setback requirements does not "lock" the density at its
current level as suggested, it merely requires that building density be increased through means
other than lot line adjustments. Such density adjustments are routinely made through zoning and
general plan amendments. Consequently, if the City Council is unhappy with these effects, it
should use the legislative process to amend the language of the LMC; however, it cannot just
simply ignore or misinterpret 5(B) as it did when it enacted the Ordinance.
Ultimately, 5(B) clearly and unambiguously requires that any regulation imposed on a
parcel prior to adjustment must remain in place if it is more restrictive than the subsequent

6

Appellee's Memorandum in Support of Summary Disposition, at 5 (attached as Addenda C).

9

regulation. The true effect of applying this provision to setback requirements is that parcel
boundaries may be changed, aggregated, or subdivided to facilitate practical building needs;
however, the resulting parcels may not have less restrictions and greater building rights than
were applicable in their previous state. This provides greater level of certainty for surrounding
lot owners and requires developers to seek additional building rights through readily available
means other than a simple lot line adjustment; these results are in no way unreasonable as the
Appellee asserts.

B. The Ordinance violates LMC § 15-7-2
In addition to the substantive 5{B) violation, the Ordinance violates several procedural
aspects of LMC § 15-7. Specifically, it is clear from § 15-7-1 that lot lines are to be adjusted in
accordance with the stated purposes of the Chapter. As outlined above, the purpose for which
the Ordinance was granted was to increase the total available building density on the
undeveloped parcels. Not only is this not one of the allowable purposes found under§ 15-7-2,
the manner in which the Ordinance was enacted in fact violated two of the stated purposes oflot
line adjustments: (1) "to ... prevent overcrowding of the land and undue congestion of
population;" and (2) "to provide the most beneficial relationship between the uses ofland and
buildings and the circulation of traffic, throughout the municipality, having particular regard to
the avoidance of congestion in the streets and highways .... " 7

It is clear from these provisions, and from the 5(B) provision discussed in the previous
section, that the LMC requires special consideration be given to the impact that adjusting lot
lines will have on the surrounding parcels and their occupants. When considering the effect that
granting the Ordinance had on the surrounding properties, it is important to note the unique

7

See LMC § 15-7-2(C), (G).
10

aspects of the area. First, Empire A venue is a narrow two lane street that runs from Park A venue
(the main vehicle corridor in Park City), passes along the principal parking lot of Park City
Mountain Resort, 8 and continues on a short distance to provide access to a number of single
family residences. This road is the main entrance point for vehicles and pedestrians to access the
ski resort. Second, because of the narrow and busy road conditions, Empire A venue is already
extremely congested and can become a difficult area to travel in during peak times. 9 Third, these
difficult conditions are further exacerbated each winter by the massive amounts of snow that
cause further narrowing and congestion of the street and surrounding parking lots. 10
With these conditions in mind, the fact that the City Council granted the Ordinance which
allowed for a 24-bedroom unit to be built with intentions to house 36-48 occupants while only
providing a total of twelve parking spaces 11 is not only unreasonable, essentially per se, it
procedurally violates the cited purpose statements. These provisions require that lot line
adjustments be made only if they do not cause overcrowding and undue congestion and only if
they provide the most beneficial relationship between the uses of the land and the traffic
congestion. In order for a lot line adjustment to meet these requirements, some analysis had to
have been done and alternative options had to have been considered to ensure that the new
development would not create substantial additional negative impacts to the vehicular and
pedestrian traffic in the area. How can you rationally state that something is the "most
beneficial" outcome if you never check out any other possible outcome? You can't compare an

8

(R. 155-56), Staff Report Exhibit C.

9

Id. at 183, October 26, 2009 Public Input.

10

Id. at 176, December 9, 2009 Planning Commission Meeting.

11

Id. at 181.

11

apple with an orange if you do not even take a look at the orange. A mere declaration by fiat
does not meet the requirements of the LMC which requires an actual analysis.
In this case, absolutely no analysis of the allowed existing development or of the possible
impacts to traffic conditions was prepared. 12 In fact, the only justification provided for the poor
parking conditions of this development was a reference to another project done in 2001 in the
City. 13 Yet, that project consisted of 200 square foot units that were designed to accommodate
only one occupant, and, even in that project, there were 1.5 parking spaces per room while here
there is only .5 spaces per room. 14 Because this development has 24 bedrooms and is designed
to accommodate 36-48 residents with only twelve off-street parking spaces, there is a potential
for 24-36 cars without a place to park; by necessity, these cars will be forced to park on the
streets and in the surrounding parking lots which are already congested from ski resort traffic and
snow.

15

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