2015

David and Rosemary Olsen; Dianne and William Newland; Rick Margolis, Plaintiffs/Appellants, vs. Park City Municipal Corporation, a Municipal Corporation; Valley of Love LLC Defendants/Appellees.

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Courts are required by Utah statute to presume that municipal land-use ordinances are valid; a court's review is limited to whether the ordinance is arbitrary, capricious, or illegal. Utah Code Ann. (UCA) § 10-9a-801(3)(a), (b). Plaintiffs only challenge whether Ordinance 10-08 is illegal. A decision is illegal if it violates a law, statute, or ordinance in effect at the time the decision was made. UCA § 10-9a-801(3)(d). The court must give "some level of non-binding deference" to the municipality's interpretation of the ordinances at issue. *Carrier v. Salt Lake County*, 104 P.3d 1208, 1216 (Utah 2004).

The Council's enactment of Ordinance 10-08 was in compliance with all applicable provisions of State and City code. The Plaintiffs claim otherwise, pointing to general purpose statements and catch-all conflicts provisions of the City's subdivision ordinance and the advisory guidelines of the General

Plan. The Plaintiffs creatively read into those general statements specific mandates that are nowhere stated or reflected in the City code. Even if such extra-statutory mandates are enforceable against the City, Ordinance 10-08 substantively complies. The Plaintiffs thus fail to show any law, statute, or ordinance that was violated by the approval of the subdivision. Specifically, the subdivision does not violate the conflicts provision of LMC § 15-7-5(B)(1), the general purpose statements of LMC § 15-7-2, or the General Plan.

The conflicts provision in LMC § 15-7-5(B)(1) does not require that subdivisions approved by the City Council set densities as though the subdivision were not drawing new property lines; to claim otherwise would vitiate the express purpose and plain language of the City's subdivision ordinances. Furthermore, Ordinance 10-08 did not impose any regulations in conflict with other regulations then in place.

The general purpose statements in LMC § 15-7-2 do not mandate specific actions by the City Council when it considers an application for subdivision. Rather, they provide a general statement of the Council's purpose in enacting the subdivision regulations. If an application meets the requirements laid out in the LMC, then it supports the purposes of the LMC. Therefore, Ordinance 10-08 complies with the purpose statements of LMC § 15-7-2.

A general plan is an "advisory guide" for land-use decisions. UCA § 10-9a-405. Decisions on land-use applications must take into account the general

plan; but the broad, aspirational, forward-looking language of a general plan does not impose on municipalities specific requirements regarding setbacks, review procedures, or other details. Regardless, the decision at issue here is in every way compatible with the Park City General Plan.

Not only is the City Council's approval of the subdivision in compliance with all applicable laws, but the Plaintiffs have not met their burden of demonstrating prejudice. The Plaintiffs must show "how, if at all, the City's decision would have been different" had it followed the laws that it has allegedly violated. *Springville Citizens for a Better Cmty. v. City of Springville*, 979 P.2d 332, 338 (Utah 1999). The Plaintiffs have made no such showing.

ARGUMENT

The Plaintiffs' sole claim on appeal is that the Park City Council's adoption of Ordinance 10-08 is illegal and should therefore be held void. They do not argue that the ordinance was arbitrary or capricious. Adoption of a land-use ordinance is illegal only if it violates a law in effect at the time of adoption. UCA § 10-9a-801(3)(d).

I. Ordinance 10-08 does not violate any substantive requirements of the Park City Land Management Code or applicable state law.

The ordinance at issue here is the City Council's approval of an application for subdivision. Valley of Love sought to develop its property

located at 1440 Empire Avenue. City ordinances require that before a landowner can develop, the property must be converted to lots of record. See LMC § 15-1-9(A)(3) (requiring that proposed land uses respect lot lines). A lot is defined in City ordinances as “A unit of land described in a recorded Subdivision Plat.” LMC § 15-15-1.152. Therefore, a parcel of land cannot be developed until it is subdivided – even if only one lot is thereby created. See LMC 15-15-1.258 (defining “subdivision” to include the creation of a single lot). The three metes-and-bounds parcels that make up 1440 Empire Avenue had never been subdivided prior to the application. They were not lots of record, and the application did not seek a lot-line adjustment.¹ See UCA § 10-9a-103(29) (defining “lot line adjustment” as “the relocation of the property boundary line *in a subdivision* between two adjoining lots” (emphasis added)).²

Plaintiffs do not dispute that Ordinance 10-08 complies with the

¹ Despite this fact, the Plaintiffs’ brief repeatedly refers to the parcels as lots, and to the subdivision as a “lot line adjustment” or “lot line consolidation.” See Brief of Appellants, pp. 5-15. Such characterizations of the action at issue are inaccurate and misleading.

² Note that State law treats a “parcel boundary adjustment” much more permissively than it does a “lot line adjustment.” A parcel boundary adjustment involves un-subdivided parcels. See UCA § 10-9a-103(35). As long as it does not create a new parcel, a parcel boundary adjustment can be executed by deed and does not involve review by any land-use authority. UCA § 10-9a-523. By contrast, lot line adjustments require review and approval of the land-use authority. UCA § 10-9a-608(5).

requirements and purpose of the zoning district in which the property sits. The Recreation Commercial (RC) District was created to, among other things, “allow for resort-related transient housing” and “provide opportunities for variation in architectural design and housing types.” LMC § 15-2.16-1(B) and (E). “Multi-Unit Dwelling” is a conditional use in the RC District. *Id.* at 2(B). Within the RC District, the required front-yard setback is 20 feet, and rear- and side-yard setbacks are 10 feet. *Id.* at 3(E) - (H). Most of Plaintiffs’ allegations center around issues which are not subject to subdivision review, such as parking or a multi-unit dwelling use. Those issues were addressed in the Conditional Use Permit review that was previously adjudicated and not appealed.

The Plaintiffs also do not dispute that the Ordinance complies with the substantive requirements of the Park City Land Management Code (LMC) and applicable state law. Plaintiffs contend only that the law violates: (a) LMC § 15-7-5(B)(1), which addresses potential conflicts between the City’s subdivision ordinances and the rest of its Code; (b) LMC § 15-7-2, which is a general statement as to the purposes for the City’s subdivision regulations; and (c) the Park City General Plan.

II. Ordinance 10-08 does not violate the conflicts provision of LMC § 15-7-5(B)(1).

Chapter 7 of the LMC establishes regulations regarding the subdivision of

land within Park City. Referring to that chapter and the four sub-chapters that follow it, Section 15-7-5(B)(1) states that:

These regulations are not intended to interfere with, abrogate, or annul any other ordinance, rule or regulation, statute, or other provision of law. Where any provision of these regulations imposes restriction different from those imposed by any other provision of these regulations or any other ordinance, rule or regulation, or other provision of law, whichever provisions are more restrictive or impose higher standards shall control.

A. Plaintiffs' reading of LMC § 15-7-5(B)(1) controverts the clear purpose of the subdivision regulations.

Plaintiffs have failed to point to any part of Chapter 7 or its four subsequent sub-chapters that interferes with, abrogates, or annuls another ordinance. Rather, Plaintiffs argue that a subdivision approval *pursuant to Chapter 7* acted to abrogate the setback provisions of LMC § 15-2.16-3 as they would have applied to the parcels. Brief of Appellants, p. 8. However, nowhere in Chapter 7 is there any reference to setbacks or density. Plaintiffs' novel reading of the conflicts provision would act to block *all* subdivisions in Park City, as a subdivision necessarily involves drawing new boundaries for purposes of dividing previously undivided parcels or joining parcels together into lots of record. Plaintiffs would thus read the conflicts provision to say that the City's subdivision ordinances are not intended to allow subdividing, because setbacks that would apply to the original metes-and-bounds parcels should still apply despite the creation of the new lot.

Such a reading contradicts the express intent (“In order that land may be subdivided...,” LMC § 15-7-1) and very existence of the City’s subdivision ordinances, effectively striking from the LMC five whole chapters in favor of an overbroad reading of one provision – contrary to the oft-invoked judicial rule: A statute should be read to give meaning to all of its parts. See *Totorica v. Thomas*, 397 P.2d 984, 987 (Utah 1965) (“It needs no citation of authorities that wherever possible effect should be given to every part of an Act.”).

B. Ordinance 10-08 did not alter any existing regulations.

Moreover, Plaintiffs ignore the fact that at the time of the application, the setback provisions of LMC § 15-2.16-3 did not apply to the three parcels. Park City enforces its zoning requirements through the “Allowed Use Review Process.” LMC § 15-1-9(A). That process includes verifying that the proposed use “respects lot lines of a legally subdivided lot.” *Id.* at § 9(A)(3). Unless a parcel has been subdivided into at least one buildable lot of record, the landowner cannot begin the process of developing the land.

Because the parcels at issue here had never been subdivided and made into a lot, the density and setback regulations of the RC District were not regulations “in effect at the time the decision was made.”³ UCA § 10-9a-

³ The Plaintiffs make use of an analysis performed by City staff in preparation for the City Council’s hearing. See Brief of Appellants, at p. 8 (citing R. 000145). The City analysis calculates the “floor area ratio” (F.A.R.)

801(3)(d). All zoning regulations that were in effect at the time of the subdivision remain in effect.⁴ Nothing in the subdivision requirements is in conflict with the zoning requirements. Because Ordinance 10-08 did not interfere with, abrogate, or annul any existing regulation, it does not violate LMC § 15-7-5(B)(1).

III. Ordinance 10-08 does not violate the purpose provisions in LMC § 15-7-2.

Section 15-7-2 of the LMC lists the purposes of the subdivision regulations. The Plaintiffs invoke three of the 12 purpose statements:

(B) To guide the future growth and Development of Park City, in accordance with the General Plan;

(C) To ... prevent overcrowding of the land and undue congestion of population;

(G) To provide the most beneficial relationship between the Uses of land and Buildings and the circulation of traffic, throughout the municipality...

for each parcel as if it were a lot of record, taking into account the setbacks that would apply. The confusion this chart apparently caused to the Plaintiffs is regrettable; but the chart does not delineate or purport to delineate any actual building rights associated with the property.

⁴ Furthermore, as of 2013, Valley of Love has the right under Utah statute to combine the three parcels by deed without interference by the City. UCA § 10-9a-523. As a result, Valley of Love could simply aggregate the parcels by deed and apply to the City for subdivision from one parcel to one lot of record. The setback and density requirements that Plaintiffs have attempted to impose on the property are thus contrary not only to City law, but to State law as well.

The other listed purposes include such things as ensuring availability of public facilities, preventing pollution, and protecting the unique character of Park City. LMC § 15-7-2(D), (I), (J).

A. LMC § 15-7-2 does not impose any procedural obligation on City Council's review of a subdivision application.

The Plaintiffs claim that purpose statements (C) and (G) put the City Council, when considering an application to subdivide, under an obligation to commission a formal study of the potential development's impact on traffic and parking in the area, and to examine alternative developments that would, in the Council's view, better fit the area.

However, the purpose statements of LMC § 15-7-2 simply state that the subdivision regulations (meaning Chapter 7 of the LMC and its four subchapters) were enacted with certain purposes in mind. They do not prescribe any particular procedures; in fact, the subdivision process is expressly addressed in subchapter 7.1, "Subdivision Procedures."

The Plaintiffs don't argue that the purpose statements have in fact been violated. Instead, they argue that LMC § 15-7-1 imposes on the City a responsibility to perform formal studies for each of the stated purposes. But the provision does not impose any such requirement. Rather, it states that "In order that land may be subdivided, or Lot lines adjusted in accordance with these purposes and policy, these Subdivision regulations are hereby

adopted.” LMC § 15-7-1. The Plaintiffs read “in accordance with” to mean that for an individual application, the Council must make a specific finding of compliance or compatibility with each listed purpose. However, the subdivision regulations with which Ordinance 10-08 complies were designed in order to fulfill the stated purposes. The property at issue here is in-fill development in an area with well-established streets and utilities. Nowhere in the LMC is a formal traffic study required for such a development, and LMC §§ 15-7-1 and 2 cannot be fairly read to impose such an obligation.

The regulations in subchapters 7.1 and 7.3 of the LMC lay out the review process for subdivision applications. The Plaintiffs point to no inadequacy or ambiguity of those chapters. Instead, they ask the Court to read an ordinance’s general purpose statements to contradict its unambiguous substantive provisions – something courts routinely refuse to do. See, e.g., *Ethyl Corp. v. EPA*, 51 F.3d 1053, 1060 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (the court only considers a general purpose statement “when Congress’s intent is not clear from the plain language of the provision,” and federal rule-makers cannot “disregard the specific scheme Congress has created ... in order to follow a broad purpose statement”); *Dorsey v. Dep’t of Workforce Servs.*, 330 P.3d 91, 96 (Utah 2014) (a purpose statement “might inform our resolution of ambiguities in statutory text” but cannot “override the clear terms of the law”); *Green v. Garriott*, 212 P.3d 96, 106 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2009) (elevating a

purpose statement above the actual language of a statute is “an approach we are obligated to reject”). The more-specific requirements of subchapters 7.1 and 7.3 of the LMC must control over the general purpose statements. Neither subchapter requires a formal traffic study.

B. Even if the City Council considers the purpose statements for individual applications, it is not required to consider alternative designs.

Even if the perambulatory LMC §§ 15-7-1 and 2 could be read to impose an obligation on the City Council to consider each purpose with regard to an individual application, the LMC does not require a particular process for doing so. The Plaintiffs imply that instead of considering the application that is presented to it, the Council must design its own alternative developments in search of the “best” one. Such a requirement is not feasible and would require as a matter of course the very evil that Plaintiffs purport to revile: “chang[ing] the rules halfway through the game.” Brief of Appellants, at p. 15 (citing *Springville Citizens*, 979 P.2d at 338). The City Council can only consider the application in front of it, and the Council must decide which better fulfills all of the statutory purposes: approval or denial.

C. The General Plan is an advisory guide and does not have the same status as City ordinances.

The Plaintiffs also interpret LMC § 15-7-2(B) to impose a strict substantive requirement that all subdivisions must comply with the

guidelines of the Park City General Plan. This reading contradicts State law, which states that “the general plan is an advisory guide for land use decisions....” UCA § 10-9a-405.⁵ A city’s general plan is not an ordinance. See UCA § 10-9a-103(25) (specifically excluding general plans from the definition of “land use ordinance”). Therefore, unless the LMC says otherwise, the Park City General Plan is not a “law, statute or ordinance,” and a subdivision cannot be deemed illegal for failing conform to the General Plan.

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